## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

**Deputy Clerk** 

CASE NO.: 78,638

DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL THIRD DISTRICT NO.: 90-02497

| HARVEY GORDON,            | : |
|---------------------------|---|
| Petitioner,               | : |
| vs.                       | : |
| STATE OF FLORIDA, et al., |   |

Respondent.

## INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

BERMARD B. WEKSLER, ESQ. Actorney for Petitioner 522 Gables International Plaza 2655 Le Jeune Road Coral Gables, Florida 33134 (305) 446-2826 FL BAR NO.: 086117

John Beranek, Esq. AURELL, RADEY, HINKLE, & THOMAS Monroe-Park Tower Suite 1000 101 North Monroe Street Tallahassee, Florida FL BAR NO.: 005419

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner, GORDON, the Plaintiff in the trial court was falsely accused of Shoplifting and a Fraudulent Refund, detained, imprisoned, handcuffed, kicked, and battered by two K-MART employees.

On February 16, 1987, GORDON, a Funeral Director, was a business invitee in a Dade County K-MART store. He had initially entered the store that morning to purchase a certain type of tennis racquet. (R. 21) Several hours after he purchased the racquet, he returned to the store in order to return the racquet and obtain a cash refund. He then decided to purchase two sets of tire valve caps with valve extensions. After he tried a cap on his car in the K-MART parking area, and found the tire cap unsatisfactory, he decided to exchange them for the less expensive standard tire caps. Based upon the exchange, he was to receive a refund of 77 cents. (R. 21) While GORDON was waiting at the K-MART service desk to obtain his refund, a K-MART loss prevention manager detained him, took him into detention, and took him to the security office for questioning. (R. 21) After a while, GORDON decided to leave. After exiting the office and walking down an aisle, GORDON was tackled from behind, thrown to the floor, handcuffed, kicked, battered, and then turned over to the Metro-Dade County Police. He was charged by K-MART with Fraudulent Refund and

> 2 LAW OFFICES BERNARD B. WEKSLER

GABLES INTERNATIONAL PLAZA - 2655 LEJEUNE ROAD - CORAL GABLES. FLORIDA 33134 - (305) 446-2826 FAX NO. (305) 446-2825 Retail Theft -- Shoplifting. He was jailed, booked, and then released on bond. K-MART pressed criminal charges against him. The Fraudulent Refund charge was eventually dropped, but GORDON was then tried in County Court, Criminal Division on the crimes of Retail Theft and Battery. The Battery was allegedly committed on K-MART employees.

In December, 1987, a bench trial commenced in the County Court, Criminal Division in connection with the criminal charges. During the trial, the State Attorney's Office <u>nolle prossed</u> the charges and the prosecution was terminated. The State Attorney and K-MART did not refile the criminal charges.

In an ensuing civil action against K-MART and its two employees, GORDON alleged causes of action for false imprisonment, battery, malicious prosecution, and negligent retention and supervision of the two K-MART employees, MIRAMBEAU and SPARROCK. He sought compensatory and punitive damages, and demanded a trial by jury. As part of the Defendants' defense to the malicious prosecution cause of action, the Defendants called as their witnesses, two assistant Dade State Attorneys. /1

Assistant State Attorney Richard Shiffrin, chief of the legal division, and Assistant State Attorney Rose Marie Shearn, over the objection of Plaintiff's counsel, testified that in their opinions, probable cause existed for the criminal prosecution of the Plaintiff. Their testimony adversely affected the malicious prosecution cause of action.

The jury returned a jury verdict on July 25, 1989 where the jury found for GORDON on hi5 claim for Negligent Retention and Supervision, on his claim for False Imprisonment, and on his claim for Battery. The jury found for the Defendants on his claim for Malicious Prosecution. The compensatory damages verdict amounted to \$72,500.00. The jury found that the three Defendants had acted with malice, moral turpitude, wantonness, willfulness, or reckless indifference to GORDON'S rights, and assessed punitive damages against the three Defendants totaling \$512,000.00.

A Final Judgment for \$72,500.00 in compensatory damages, and \$512,000.00 in punitive damages was entered solely in GORDON'S favor and against the Defendants on July 27, 1989. (R. 3) Post-trial motions, including a Motion for New Trial, Remittitur or Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict, and a Supplement to Defendants' Post Trial Motions were denied on October 5, 1989. GORDON filed a Verified Motion to Tax Costs seeking a costs recovery of \$16,858.30. The trial court entered a Costs Judgment of \$9,247.64.

K-MART filed a Notice of Appeal to the Third District Court of Appeal on November 3, 1989. Subsequently, on August 7, 1990, in <u>K-Mart Corp. v. Gordon</u>, 565 **So.2d** 834 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990) the Judgment was entirely affirmed. (R, 5) After the issuance of the Mandate, K-MART on September 20, 1990, filed a Motion to Amend the Final Judgment. (R. 8) <u>/2</u> The Motion for Amendment sought an order amending the Final Judgment to comply with <u>Florida Statute</u> <u>§768.73(2)(b)</u>, making sixty (60%) percent of the punitive damages award payable to the General Revenue Fund. The Motion was made, "pursuant to Florida Rule of Civil Procedure <u>1.540(a)</u> amending the final judgment entered in the cause so that it complies with the requirements of section 768.73". (R. 8-9) /3

On August 8, 1990, <u>one</u> day after the Final Judgment was affirmed, the K-MART attorney contacted Insurance Commissioner Tom Gallagher and other state officials

12

/3

Rule of Civil Procedure 1.530(g), requires a motion to alter or amend the Judament to be served not later than ten days after the entry of the Judgment. K-MART'S motion to amend was not timely filed.

K-MART subsequently filed an Addendum to Motion for Amendment of Final Judgment wherein K-MART alleged that it was not seeking relief under <u>Rule of Civil Procedure</u> <u>1.530(g)</u>, but pursuant to <u>Rule of Civil Procedure 1.540</u>. (R. 16) The movant did <u>not</u> allege <u>any</u> of the bases, i.e., clerical mistake, fraud, inadvertence, newly discovered evidence, etc., for relief.

regarding the "proper procedure to be followed in order to comply with <u>Section 768.73</u>". (R. 9) The written response from Treasurer Gallagher, dated August 17, 1990, was attached to the K-MART Motion. (R. 11-12). The letter informed K-MART'S attorney, inter alia, that:

> "The Comptroller's office will provide your client with a receipt and release, which should act to satisfy your clients' responsibilities under the statute. The Attorney General's office advises that a satisfaction of judgment would not be appropriate since the State of Florida was not a party to the litigation." (emphasis supplied) (R. 11)

On October 4, 1990, the State of Florida petitioned the trial court to, "intervene and assert its rights pursuant to 5768.73 Fla.Stat.". (R. 18) The Petition alleged that the Final Judgment entered in the case did not make sixty percent (60%) of the punitive damage award payable to the PMATF (Public Medical Assistance Trust Fund), as provided by Statute. Therefore, the Petition alleged, <u>inter alia</u>, that:

"5. The State, in order to protect and defend its statutory rights, seeks intervention because its interest in this litigation is of such direct and immediate character that it will either gain or lose by direct legal operation and effect of the judgment if it is not permitted to interverse."

(emphasis supplied) (R. 18-19)

The State did not allege that it was intervening as a party plaintiff for the purpose of applying <u>\$768.73(2)(b)</u>, <u>Florida Statutes</u>. That section, which is part of the Tort Reform and Insurance Act of 1986, became effective on July 1, **1986**, and requires that 60% of any punitive damages award be payable either to the Public Medical Assistance Trust Fund or, as in this case of intentional torts, to the General Revenue Fund of the State of Florida.

The Plaintiff filed a Response to the Defendants' Motion for Amendment of Final Judgment, Etc., objecting to the Defendants' Motion. (R. 22-29)

At a hearing held on October 9, 1990, over the objection of Plaintiff's counsel, the trial court entered an order granting the State's Petition to Intervene, and the Defendants' Motion to Amend the Final Judgment. The trial court then entered an Order Amending Final Judgment, <u>nunc</u> **pro** tunc, as follows:

> "1. Ιt appearing that the Final dated July 27, 1989 Judqment and recorded on the 28th day of July, 1989, in the Official Records Book No. 14195 1542 of the Public Records of at Paqe Dade County, was in error in that it failed to make sixty (60) percent of the punitive damages awarded payable to the State of Florida pursuant to section Florida Statutes (1987), the 768.73, same is hereby amended nunc pro tunc so that the said Final Judgment shall read as follows:

LAW OFFICES **BERNARD B. WEKSLER** GABLES INTERNATIONAL PLAZA - 2655 LEJEUNE ROAD - CORAL GABLES, FLORIDA 33134 - (305) 446-2826 FAX NO' (305) 446-2825

PURSUANT TO the verdict rendered in this action. it is

ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that the Plaintiff, HARVEY GORDON, recover from the Defendants, K MART CORPORATION, DAVID SPARROCK, and PETER MIRAMBEAU, the sum of TWO HUNDRED SEVENTY-SEVEN THOUSAND THREE HUNDRED AND 00/100 (\$277,300.00) with costs to be hereinafter taxed, that shall bear interest at the rate set by Florida Statute for which let execution issue.

section 768.73. Florida Pursuant to a judgment is hereby Statutes (1987) entered in favor of the General Revenue Fund of the State of Florida in the THREE HUNDRED SEVEN THOUSAND amount of TWO HUNDRED AND 00/100 DOLLARS (\$307,200.00) which sum represents sixty (60) percent of the punitive damage award.

2. <u>This Court hereby directs the Clerk</u> to amend the Final Judgment accordingly. (emphasis supplied) (R. 1-2)

The Order Amending Final Judgment reduced GORDON'S Jul<sup>7</sup> 12, 1989 Final Judgment from a total of \$584,500.00 down to \$277,300.00, with the State of Florida receiving \$307,200.00, plus accrued interest. (R. 1-2)

<u>Section 768.73 (4)</u>, provides that the claimant's attorney's fees, if payable from the Judgment, shall, to the extent that they are based on the punitive damages, be calculated based only on the 40% payable to the claimant. Therefore, GORDON'S attorney who was providing his legal services on a contingent fee for trial services on 40% of

LAW OFFICES **BERNARD B. WEKSLER** GABLES INTERNATIONAL PLAZA - 2655 LEJEUNE ROAD - CORAL GABLES. FLORIDA 33134 - (305) 446-2826 FAX NO., (305) 446-2825

the Judgment, would not be paid any fee calculated on the "award" to the State of \$307,200.00.

GORDON filed with the Third District Court of Appeal a Motion to Enforce the prior Mandate and a Notice of Appeal from the Order Amending Final Judgment. The District Court denied GORDON'S Motion to Enforce the Mandate of the July 27, 1989 Final Judgment. The District Court entered an Order denying K-MART'S Motion to Dismiss GORDON'S appeal, and ordered the State of Florida to be a Defendant/Appellee, and file a brief.

In his appeal from the Order Amending Final Judgment, GORDON raised various contentions regarding the unconstitutionality of <u>Section 768.73(2)(b)</u>. The Third District decided that the constitutional attacks upon the statute were "very insubstantial", and affirmed the trial Gordon v. State of Florida, K-Mart Corp., Etc., et court. <u>al.</u>, Case No. 90-2497, \_\_\_\_ So. 2d \_\_\_\_ (Fla. 3d DCA 1991) 16 FLW D 2256.

In affirming the trial court's amended Final Judgment, the Third District decided that: (1) There was no deprivation of due process right to property in that GORDON did not have a cognizable, protectable right to the recovery of punitive damages at all; (2) that the legislature may place conditions upon the recovery of punitive damages or

LAW OFFICES BERNARD B. WEKSLER GABLES INTERNATIONAL PLAZA - 2655 LEJEUNE ROAD - CORAL GABLES. FLORIDA 33134 - (305) 446-2826 FAX NO: (305) 446-2825

even abolish it altogether; (3) that where the incident in question occurred subsequent to the effective date of the statute that GORDON cannot obtain a vested right to a punitive damages claim, and (4) that Section 768.73(2)(b) is not "arbitrary" and "unreasonable".

In opining that Section 768.73 (2) (b) was rationally related to a legitimate legislative interest or objective, the appellate court found two such bases as readily The court decided that the present apparent. Statute directly served one of the most basic justifications for the existence of punitive damages; to serve as punishment for what amounts to a public wrong and thus to protect the public in inhibiting future such conduct. (R, 75) Tn addition, the appellate court decided that the legislature had every right to conclude, as a matter of public policy, that punitive damage claims suits should be discouraged -even eliminated -- and that, "this affords a perfectly legitimate ground for upholding the statute". (R. 78)

In a <u>footnote 13</u>, the District Court certified to the Supreme Court, "that this case involves a question of great public importance as to the constitutionality of §768.73(2)(b), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1986)". (R. 80)

The opinion of the District Court was filed on August 27, 1991. GORDON filed his Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction of Supreme Court with the District Court on September 13, 1991.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

<u>Section 768.73 (2)(b)</u> is unconstitutional and violates the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution, and Article X, Section 6 of the Florida Constitution in taking private property for public use without full compensation paid to the Plaintiff who obtained a \$512,000.00 punitive damages award and Judgment. <u>Section</u> <u>768.73 (2)(b)</u>, violates other constitutional rights, including the right of access to the courts to redress for injury, the inviolate right of trial by jury with the verdict free from substantial impairment, and the equal protection of the law.

A right to punitive damages existed as common law, and has been adopted as a statute in this State. Further, as soon as a Final Judgment for punitive damages was entered, the Plaintiff's rights were vested, In any event, the Legislature cannot abolish an existing right to recover punitive damages without providing a reasonable alternative to protect the injured plaintiff, or without a showing of an overpowering public necessity for the abolishment of the

plaintiff's right, and no alternative method of meeting the public necessity. There has been no such showing. The established "public policy" of the State is to uphold the principle of awarding punitive damages and to seek redress in the courts.

The State was not a party in the civil action in the trial court, and cannot become a judgment creditor of the Defendant tort feasors. Therefore, it cannot share in the Judgment.

Leaving the injured Plaintiff's right to recover some punitive damages intact but authorizing the State, a non-participant or Plaintiff's helper in the Civil Action, to take 60% of the recovery, is arbitrary and capricious. The State assisted in arresting the Plaintiff, placed him in jail, criminally prosecuted him, and in the subsequent civil action, aided K-MART, did not assist in defending against an appeal, did not share any of the costs or legal fees, and now seeks to gain \$317,200.00 by its own misconduct and omissions.

There is no rational relationship between giving 60% of the full punitive damages to the State, and the announced purpose of tort reform of affordable liability insurance. Insurance companies do not provide insurance for punitive damages.

The entire proceeding is a fraud on the jury which is job of applying community standards against given the outrageous, willful, and wanton misconduct, while being statutorily and intentionally misled into believing that the punitive damages amount awarded will be paid to the injured plaintiff. The State is critical of the punitive damages, discourage them by "making them and want. to less remunerative to the plaintiff and his attorneys" -- while at the same time, the State seeks to secretly step into the shoes and pockets of the Plaintiff to take the money while sharing none of the costs, fees, aggravation, trauma, or Since the guilty defendant pays the same amount, but risks. now unequally shared by the State and the plaintiff, the 60% exaction by the State does not solve or reform any perceived insurance or tort reform problems.

Two States, Georgia and Colorado, have already declared their punitive damages sharing statutes unconstitutional.

The Plaintiff's lawyer's work, time, efforts, and skills in the trial court in obtaining the punitive damages award in the trial court, obtaining the Final Judgment, and then prevailing in the K-MART appeal, should be compensated in accordance with his contingent fee agreement. When the State takes 60% of the punitive damages award without compensating him, he has been deprived of property without

due process of law. He is entitled to be compensated for his services in obtaining an award which may benefit the State in the sum of \$307,200.00, whether his fee be the agreed upon contingent fee amount, a "quantum meruit" fee, an "unjust enrichment" amount, or some other reasonable sum.

LAW OFFICES BERNARD B. WEKSLER GABLES INTERNATIONAL PLAZA - 2655 LEJEUNE ROAD - CORAL GABLES. FLORIDA 33134 - (305) 446-2826 FAX NO: (305) 446-2825

#### ARGUMENT

I.

WHETHER SECTION 768.73(2) (b), FLORIDA STATUTE (SUPP. 1986), PROVIDING FOR THE STATE OF FLORIDA TO OBTAIN AND TAKE 60% OF A PUNITIVE DAMAGES AWARD IS CONSTITUTIONAL?

This case involves a challenge to the constitutionality of the punitive damages sharing statute, <u>Section</u> <u>768.73(2)(b), Florida Statutes</u>, which was enacted in 1986 as part of the **Tort** Reform and Insurance Act of 1986. The Section requires a **party** receiving a punitive damage award to have 60% of the award payable to either the State of Florida's Public Medical Assistance Trust Fund or to the General Revenue Fund. /4

In the case at bar, the General Revenue Fund of the State of Florida received 60% of the \$584,500.00 punitive damages awarded to GORDON, thus reducing his recovery to \$277,300.00.

## <u>√4</u> 5768.73 (2) Florida Statute (Supp. 1986)

In any civil action, an award of punitive damages shall be **payable** as follows:

(a) Forty percent of the award shall be payable to the claimant.

(b) If the cause of action was based upon personal injury or wrongful death, sixty percent of the award shall be payable to the Public Medical Assistance Trust Fund created in §409.2662; otherwise, sixty percent of the award shall be payable to the General Welfare Fund.

LAW OFFICES BERNARD B. WEKSLER

GABLES INTERNATIONAL PLAZA - 2655 LEJEUNE ROAD - CORAL GABLES. FLORIDA 33134 - (305) 446-2826 FAX NO.: (305) 446-2825 Section 768.73 (2)(b), has effectuated a forced taking of HARVEY GORDON'S 307,200.00 property interest in the award and judgment, and does so in a manner and degree unrelated to any constitutionally permissible governmental interest served by the taking and, therefore, violates the federal and state constitutional prescriptions against the taking of private property without just or any compensation. U.S. Constitution Amendments V and XIV; Florida Constitution Article X. Section 6. <u>/5</u>

The Declaration of Rights of the Florida Constitution, Article I, Section 2, declares the basic inalienable rights of all natural persons to enjoy and defend life and liberty, to pursue happiness, to be awarded for industry, and to

# 75

The Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides in part:

• • • nor shall private property be taken for public use, without just compensation.

This amendment is made applicable to the states through the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. <u>Chicago</u>, <u>Burlington</u>, and <u>Quincy R.R. Co.</u>, V. Chicago, 166 U.S. 226 17 S.Ct. 581 (1897).

<u>Article X, Section 6</u> of the Florida Constitution provides in part:

No private property shall be taken except for a public purpose and with full compensation therefor paid to each owner.

#### LAW OFFICES BERNARD B. WEKSLER

GABLES INTERNATIONAL PLAZA - 2655 LEJEUNE ROAD - CORAL GABLES. FLORIDA 33134 - (305) 446-2826 FAX NO (305) 446-2825 acquire, possess, and protect property. The ownership of property is guaranteed by the Constitutions, and has been termed a "sacred right", encouraged and protected by the federal and state Constitutions. <u>City of Palmetto V.</u> Katsch, 86 Fla. 506, 98 So.352 at 354 (1923).

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