017

1-14-92 3/198
FILED
SID J. WHITE
DEC 23 1991
CLERK, SUPREME COURT.
By _____
Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA
CASE NO. 78,638

HARVEY GORDON,
Petitioner,
vs.
STATE OF FLORIDA, et al.,
Respondent.

_____ /

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT STATE OF FLORIDA

ON REVIEW FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT
OF APPEAL STATE OF FLORIDA

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH
ATTORNEY GENERAL

CRAIG B. WILLIS
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0257656

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS
THE CAPITOL, SUITE 1601
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1050
(904) 488-9935

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT
STATE OF FLORIDA

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent State of Florida accepts the Petitioner's Statement of the Case and Facts.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Tort Reform and Insurance Act of 1986 was a legislative effort towards tort and commercial insurance reform. This Court has previously and extensively reviewed this act finding the Legislature had a rational basis for its action. The particular provision of the act attacked here is entitled to a presumption of validity and must be upheld, unless Petitioner can clearly demonstrate its unconstitutionality. Petitioner has failed to do so. His attack amounts to nothing more than an emotive plea based on policy grounds.

If the premise that punitive damages are subject legislative direction and control is accepted as a principle of stare decisis, then the analyses offered by Petitioner under various constitutional provisions are wholly irrelevant, or in the words of the Third District Court of Appeal, "very insubstantial." The Petitioner's cause of action accrued, and his lawyer entered into the contract of representation, subsequent to the effective date of the punitive damage statute. Therefore, neither Petitioner nor his lawyer had a vested property right to a punitive damage award, except as dictated by

statute. At the time the jury returned a verdict for punitive damages the state's right to sixty (60%) percent of those damages vested. Entry of final judgment is a ministerial act which must be executed in accordance with the statute. The fact that the form of the judgment needed to be amended to bring it into compliance with the punitive damage statute does not operate to render the statute unconstitutional. To hold otherwise would subject the constitutionality of the statute to the whim of the trial court.

This court has extended the application of the constitutional principle of access to courts to statutory limitations on compensatory damages, both economic and noneconomic. However, no court in this state has ever questioned the Legislature's authority to limit, or even eliminate, punitive damages. To so rule would obviate settled law concerning the nature and social purposes of punitive damages; in effect, injecting into such damages a compensatory aspect heretofore absent in this jurisdiction.

Petitioner's other claims are without merit. If the Legislature may properly eliminate punitive damages, if in its policy-making discretion such action is warranted, then the Legislature, consequently, may limit such damages or re-direct their dispersal. Such action does not interfere with Petitioner's right to trial by jury. **The** statute is entitled to

a presumption of constitutionality and should be construed in a manner that is consistent with constitutional principles.

The provisions of Section 768.73(2), Florida Statutes, do not constitute an unlawful taking of Appellant's property. The entitlement to punitive damages does not vest until the entry of the Final Judgment. The fact that the trial judge mistakenly did not enter the original Final Judgment in accordance with the statute does not preclude the trial judge from correcting that mistake by amending the Final Judgment.

Punitive damages are subject to legislative direction and control. Prior to the accrual of Petitioner's cause of action, the Legislature enacted the tort reform act which changed the amount of punitive damages a plaintiff was entitled to receive in a civil action. The Petitioner and his lawyer took this case with this statute as the present law of the state. Neither the Petitioner nor his attorney ever had any right to receive any more than 40 percent of the punitive damage award or fees based upon this percentage. Therefore, neither Appellant nor his attorney has been deprived of any "property."

A R G U M E N T

I.

SECTION 768.73(2), FLORIDA STATUTES, IS CONSTITUTIONAL.

A. Introduction

In 1986, the Florida Legislature undertook a comprehensive effort to address a perceived compelling social problem pertaining to the availability of commercial liability insurance. The results of that effort are contained in the Tort Reform and Insurance Act of 1986, Ch. 86-160, Laws of Florida. The legislative efforts towards related tort reform is codified in Part II of Chapter 768, Florida Statutes. The Tort Reform and Insurance Act received early and extensive review from this Court. See, Smith v. Department of Insurance, 507 So.2d 1080 (Fla. 1987). However, the particular provision at issue in the present case was tested only against the contention that it constituted judicial encroachment. Id. at 1092.

The concept of damages as a tool of social policy awarded above and beyond what is necessary to compensate a wronged party has an ancient history. Multiple damages directed to the nature of the wrongdoing and having a punitive character were first recorded in 2,000 B.C. in the Code of Hammurabi. Hittite Law in 1400 B.C. and the Hindu Code of Manu in 200 B.C. also provided for damages of a punitive nature in excess of actual harm. The Bible contains numerous examples of multiple damage remedies available under Mosaic Law for offenses such as stealing, adultery and usury.

English common law decisions early on established the concept of punitive or exemplary damages awardable in situations where a tortfeasor's conduct was particularly egregious. However, the English courts were somewhat equivocal about the philosophical underpinnings of punitive damages. Some of the English decisions emphasized that punitive or exemplary damages were awarded as a form of compensation. Nevertheless, the English decisions manifest a great deal of confusion about the compensatory versus punitive nature of damages which were in excess of the absolute pecuniary damage that a plaintiff could prove. See, e.g., Merest v. Harvey, 5 Taunt, 442, 128 Eng. Rep. 761 (C.P. 1814).

After the arrival of this damage theory in America it soon became settled doctrine that exemplary damages are non-compensatory in character.¹ The availability of actual damages to compensate for pain and suffering, inconvenience, physical impairment, mental anguish, disfigurement, loss of capacity for enjoyment of life, **wounded** feelings, indignity and embarrassment render awarding of exemplary damages on such bases redundant. In almost American jurisdictions the expressed purpose of punitive damages is **non-remunerative**.² This role flows counter to the normal reparative function of tort and contract remedies with the

¹ See, Note, Exemplary Damages in the Law of Torts, 70 Harv.L.Rev. 517, 520 (1978).

In fact, only three states have assigned to punitive damages a compensatory function - Connecticut, Michigan and New Hampshire.

result that punitive damages have a long-standing controversial position among regular remedies available at law.

Under Florida law punitive damages have a long history and are awardable only when the acts complained of have been committed with malice, moral turpitude, wantonness, willfulness, outrageous aggravation, or with reckless indifference to the rights of others. See, Ross v. Gore, 48 So.2d 412 (Fla. 1950); Castlewood International Corp. v. La Fleur, 322 So.2d 520 (Fla. 1975); S.H. Kress & Co. v. Powell, 180 So. 757 (Fla. 1938); Winn & Lovett Grocery Co. v. Archer, 171 So. 214 (Fla. 1936). This Court on a number of occasions has analogized the character of negligence necessary to support an award of punitive damages, as comparable to the standard of conduct necessary to sustain a conviction for manslaughter. See, Chrysler Corp. v. Wolmer, 499 So.2d 823 (Fla. 1986); White Construction Co. v. Dupont, 455 So.2d 1026 (Fla. 1984); and Carraway v. Revell, 116 So.2d 16 (Fla. 1959).

It has long been established that punitive damages are reserved for **those** kinds of cases where the private injuries resulted from acts which rise to the level of a public wrong. Ingram v. Pettit, 340 So.2d 922 (Fla. 1976). Punitive damages go beyond the actual damages suffered from the tort and are imposed as a punishment of the wrongdoer **and** as a deterrent to him and to others, Chrysler Corp. v. Wolmer, 499 So.2d 823 (Fla. 1986); Mercury Motors Exp., Inc. v. Smith, 393 So.2d 545 (Fla. 1981); Campbell v. Government Emp. Ins. Co., 306 So.2d 525 (Fla. 1974).

In Florida East Coast Ry. Co. v. McRoberts, 149 So. 631, 632 (Fla. 1933), the Supreme Court of Florida expounded on the nature and purpose of punitive damages:

Punitive damages are damages over and above such sum as will compensate a person for his actual loss. And the law permits their imposition, in proper cases, at the discretion of the jury, not because the party injured is entitled under the law to recover punitive damages as a matter of right, but as punishment to the wrongdoer, for the purpose of deterring him and others committing similar violations of the law from such wrongdoing in the future. Therefore exemplary damages are, as it has been said, allowed by the law, not **as** a matter of compensation to the injured party, but because of the quality of the wrong done by the tort-feasor

It has, in fact, been stated that the availability of punitive damages is reserved to those kinds of cases where private injuries partake of public wrongs. See Ingram v. Pettit, 340 So.2d 922 (Fla. 1976). The Florida Supreme Court in Ingram v. Pettit, regarding the nature of punitive damages, stated as follows:

We believe that the potentiality of an adverse **award** of punitive damages is a suitable corollary to those criminal laws designed to discourage , , , , reckless disregard for the public safety.

Id. at 925

Thus, the first characteristic of punitive damages is that they are imposed in situations where, because of the defendant's egregious conduct, the private injuries constitute public wrongs.

Punitive damages, therefore, rest upon a principle of punishment and are in the nature of a civil penalty.

Under this theory punitive damages is a social, exemplary remedy, not a private, compensatory remedy. The imposition of punitive damages serves the function of punishment which may deter future public harm. In this view, punitive damages are imposed in the interest of society and for the public benefit. See generally, 22 Am. Jur. 2d Damages, 8734, and cases cited thereunder.

The second principle or characteristic of punitive damages for purposes of constitutional analysis or scrutiny is that such damages are subject to legislative control and direction and constitutionally may be disallowed entirely or may be subjected to other limitations and alterations. Although punitive damages are recoverable under Florida law, such damages are not an absolute right. Ross v. Gore, 48 So.2d 412 (Fla. 1950); Fisher v. City of Miami, 172 So.2d 455 (Fla. 1965); 22 Am. Jur. 2d Damages §737. In Smith v. Hill, 147 N.E.2d 321 (Ill. 1958), the Illinois Supreme Court held that since punitive damages are allowed in the interest of society and not solely to recompense the individual, a statutory denial of them does not violate any constitutional right or encroach upon any judicial function or violate any constitutional guaranty of separation of powers. And see Louisville & Nashville R. Co. v. Street, 51 So. 306, 307 (Ala. 1909) (plaintiff is without legal right to punitive damages and

such damages may be forbidden or affirmatively withheld by legislative enactment.

The imposition of civil penalties is a valid exercise of the state's police power. The fact the state has historically allowed a plaintiff, as a reward for carrying out social policy, to receive all of the punitory award does not preclude the state from altering that policy or re-directing the distribution of the proceeds of the penalty. When analyzed from this perspective of social policy, punitive damages can be viewed as a variety of a qui tam action.³ See generally, 36 Am. Jur. 2d Forfeitures and Penalties, 867-69. In the absence an express constitutional restriction, the legislature has the authority to direct to whom a penalty imposed by statute shall be paid. The general purpose served by directing that all or a portion of an award be paid to an aggrieved party or to an informer is that it has the effect of stimulating prosecutions.

Against this historical and analytical backdrop we can review Petitioner's constitutional claims.

B. Taking of Property Without Due Process.

Petitioner first claims that the application of Section 768.73(2), Florida Statutes, to the jury verdict returned in his case violates the Due Process Clause of the United States Constitution and Article X, Section 6 of the Florida

³ See, e.g., Rivers and Harbors Appropriation Act of 1899, 816, 33 U.S.C.A §411, which provides that persons giving information leading to the conviction of violators of the Refuse Act shall be paid one-half of any fine collected.

Constitution. The fault with Petitioner's entire theory lies in the assumption of **his** faulty premise that he ever had a vested property right of which the State subsequently deprived him without just compensation. If this statute is to be given a presumption of validity and construed in a manner which is consistent with its constitutionality, then the only conclusion that can be reached is that the State's interest in sixty percent of the punitive damage award vested at the time the jury made its award, which is the same moment the Petitioner's interest in forty percent of that award vested. The only way the legislation could constitutionally run a foul an individual's property rights is if the statute in its application affected vested property rights or retroactively applied to final judgments, contracts or causes of action which were executed or accrued prior to the effective date of the law. See, Section 768.71(2), which provides that "[t]his part applies only to causes of action arising on or after July 1, 1986, and does not apply to **any** cause of action arising before that date."

In Ross v. Gore, 48 So.2d 412 (Fla. 1950), this Court ruled that it was constitutionally permissible for the Legislature to place conditions under which punitive damages could be recovered, or to **deny** their recovery entirely. The Ross Court at 414 stated:

As to question No. 1, plaintiff contends that the statute has "changed the amount of damages recoverable, and thus has unconstitutionally impaired appellant's

rights." There is no merit to this contention. As to the denial of "punitive damages," such damages are allowed, not **as** compensation to a plaintiff, but as a deterrent to others inclined to commit a similar offense, and their allowance depends on malice, moral turpitude, wantonness or outrageousness of tort. [citations omitted] The right to have punitive damages assessed is not property; and it is the general rule that, until a judgment is rendered, there is no vested right in a claim for punitive damages. [citations omitted] It cannot, then, be said that the denial of punitive damages has unconstitutionally impaired any property rights of appellant.

Petitioner's claim that he obtained a vested right to the entire punitive damage award because the original final judgment erroneously entered the entire amount in his favor is frivolous. The trial court made her error clear at the time of her ruling on the motion to amend the judgment.

I don't think this is a clerical mistake. I think it's a mistake on my part but not a clerical one, in other words in typing. I did not miswrite anything or whoever prepared the order did no miswrite anything. It was my oversight in the sense that I did not realize that it was meant to be interpreted that it would exclude the statute, And that was not my intention in any way, shape or form, you know. So it was an oversight on my part in that regard.

585 So.2d at 1038 n.10.

The district court dismissed Petitioner's contention on this point in the following manner.

We relegate to a footnote the claim that Gordon obtained a constitutionally vested right to 100% of the punitive damages when the initial judgment for that amount **was** entered in his favor. Because that judgment was obviously erroneously entered as in contravention of a contrary statute, this contention is equivalent to stating that no judgment **may** constitutionally be corrected or reversed on appeal.

Gordon v. State of Florida, 585 So.2d at 1037 n.8.

C. Access to Courts.

Petitioner's contention that the 1986 amendment is an impermissible interference with his access to courts rests on the same faulty premise that his due process claim is based. Petitioner must argue that the Legislature lacks the plenary power to alter or abolish punitive damages.

Article I, Section 21 of the Florida Constitution, provides:

The courts shall be open to every person for redress of any injury, and justice shall be administered without sale, denial or delay.

In Kluger v. White, 281 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973), this Court articulated its approach to access to court issues:

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